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'REPORT.

At the Court of Comvon PrLeAs, held at Dgep-
oaMm, in the County of Norfolk, December Term,
1837, the case of Rev. Moses TuarcHER vs Gen.
Preston Ponp, was brought up for tnal, on
- Monday, 25th inst.

Hon. Davip Cummins, Jubpce.

Priny. Merrick and Ira Crevevanp, Esqrs. ap-
peared as Counsel, in behalf of the Plaintiff.

Rurus Croare and T. Mercarr, Esqrs. conducted
the defence.
The following is a copy of the original Writ, upon
which the action was founded:
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS.

NorroLk, ss. .
To the Sheriff of our Counly of Novfolk, or his Deputy. GREETING:
We command you to attach the goods or estate of Preston Pond
of Wrentham, in the county of Norfolk, Yeoman, to the value of
thirty hundred dollars, and for want thereof to take the body of
the said Preston if he may be found in your precinct, and him
safely keep, so that you have him before our justices of our Court
of Common Pleas next to be holden at Dedham, within and for
our said county of Norfolk, on the fourth Monday of April next,
then and there in our said Court to answer unto Moses Thatcher,
of Wrentham, in said county of Norfolk, Clerk in_a plea of the
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case for that whereas the plaintiff is a good and faithful citizen of
said Commonwealth, and for more than twelve years now last past
has been and still is a preacher and minister of the Gospel, legally
gettled and ordained over the church and society called the Cleve-
land Religious Society in North Wrentham, and was always of
good reputation and character for virtue and chastity among all
his acquaintances, and is and ever has been free from the odious
crime of adultery nevertheless the said Preston Pond, not being
ignorant of the premises, but mﬁciously and wickedly contriving
and intending to blacken and defame the plaintiff in his good name
and reputation, injuring him in his ministerial office aforesaid and
put him in danger of losing the same and the income and profits
therefrom accruing to him, on the fourteenth day of March now
current at Wrentham aforesaid, 1n the county aforesaid, in the
presence and hearing of divers good citizens of said Common-
wealth, did openly speak utter and publish of and concerning the
plaintiff, he being such minister and preacher of the Gospel as
aforesaid, the following false, scandalous, malicious and defama-
tory words, to wit: ‘1 (meaning the said Preston) can prove that
he (meaning the said Thatcher) had criminal intercourse with my
brother’s wife, (meaning Jerusha M. Pond wife of Smith Pond)
with Adaline Hawes, and with Mrs Simmons; that he (meaning

the plaintifi) had confessed the fact to Mr Simmons and Smith
Pond.”” And the said Thatcher further says that the said Pres-

ton, at said Wrentham, on the tenth day of March now current in
the presence and hearing of divers citizens of said Cammonwealth,
with the intention mnd purposes aforesaid, did openly speak, utter
and publish of and concerning the plaintiff, he being such. minis-
ter and preacher of the (ospel, as aloresaid, these other false,
scandalous and defamatory words, to wit: ‘“ he (meaning the
laintiff' ) has been in bed with Adaline (meaning a certain woman
Ey the name of Adaline Hawes) repeatedly.”” And the said
Thatcher in fact further says that the said Preston, at said Wren-
tham, on the eighth day of March now current, in” the presence
and hearing of divers good citizens of said Commonwealth, and
with the intention and purpose aforesaid, in a certain discourse
which he the said Preston then and there had, did openly and
publicly, falsely and maliciously charge the plaintff with the crime
of adultery, and did accuse the plaintiff’ of having committed the
crime aforesaid. |
- By means of the speaking and publishing of which said several
false, scandalous and defamatory words, and of the said false and
malicious charge and accu=ation, the plaintiff has been exposed
to be unjustly suspected of the crime of adultery, and has been
put in danger of being deprived of I'is ministerial office aforesaid,
and of losing the benefits and advantages accruing to him there-
from, and has likewise undergone great pain and distress in body
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and mind, and has been greatly injured in his reputation and in
his religious character and usefulness, to the damage of the said
Thatcher, as he says, the sum of thirty hundred dollars, which
shall then and there be made to appear, with other due damages.
And have you there this writ, with your doings therein.  Witness
Artemas Ward, Esquire, at Dedham, the twenty fourth day of
March, in the vear ‘of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

thirty seven. < JOS. G. KENDALL; Clerk.

After the reading of the Writ, the Counsel for the
defendant filed the following specification of the
grounds of defence:

And now the said Pond comes and defends &e. when &ec. and
gays he is not guilty in manner and form as the plaintiff has above
thereof declared against him and thereof for trial put himself on
the County. By R. CHOATE, his Allorney.

1. And the said defendant pursuant to an order of the Hin. Court
speecifies and states, that he shall at the trial offer evidence of
matter, tending to rebut and disprove the case which the plaintiff
shall make out, and that he shall deny that he spoke the words
alledged by the plaintff in his declaration to have been spoken,
and that he shall deny that he spoke them, or any words of the
plaintuff maiictously. ‘

2. And the said defendant will on the trial, give evidence to
prove that the words alleged 1n the declaration to have been spok-
en by him and all such thereof, if any, as the pliantifi’ may suc-
ceed In proving him te huave spoken, were, and are true, and that
any and all accusatiors of erime, and all slanderous matter which
if any the plaintiff shall succeed 1o proving upon the defendant,
are and were truly made and spoken, acd that the plaintifft 1s and
was guilty as accu=ed, | |

3. And the said defendant will further offer evilence to prove,
that, if it shall be proved that at any tiime he spoke anv of the
words chzrged in the declaration, he did uniformly, and at the time
of speaking them, declare that they were told to him by some
persoms or person, whose name he al the same time uniformly
and truly gave, and that it was true in fact—that all words which
if any he shall be proved to have spoken, ‘have been communi-
cated to him as true, by credible persons, entitled to belict, and
that he believed them. |

4. Arndthe said defendant will further offer evidence, that if it
shall be proved that at any time he spoke any ot the ward charged
10 the declaration, he spoke them not wmalicionsly, but in good
faith and in the cause, and for the purpose of performing a moral,
gocial and religious duty, and believing the woids to be true; and
that the plaintiff’s official character and functions, and the defend-
ant’s relations to the religious community, and to an injured
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- father, and the cause of religion, morals and decency, require.
him to speak them. |

0. And the said defendant will further offer evideuce to prove
~ that the plaintiff has committed the crime of adulterv with Adaline
- Hawes, and has been "in bed many times with the said Adaline,
-~ and has attempted to commit with the same crime with, and had
- solicited the chastity of Jerusha Pond, wife of Smith Pond—and
“has been guilty of indecent leveties and familiarities and nbscenity
of conduct and bahaviour with, and towards the said Adaline and
Jerusha and Asenath Holbrook and Sasan Holbrook both now
deceased, and Lavinia H. Hall, inconsistant with, and disgraceful
to his character, station and profession as a minister of the Gospel.

6. And the said defendant will further prove, that the general
moral character of the plamtiff is, and for several years has been
bad, and also, that his general character {or chastity and veracity,
1s, and for several years been bad, and that he is not entitled to
claun, and receive, damages grounded on an allegéd injury to

reputation, R CHOATE.
Mr CrrvrLanp opened the case for the prosecu-

tion. by remarking with much severity upon the vile

character of the slanders said to have been uttered

by the defendant ; he alluded to the sacred office held
by his client, "and the great interests which were at

1ssue, oi: this occasion. He spoke of the plamtifi’s

abilities ; of the perseverance and energy, which he
had manifested throughout the whole of his active

life ; and represented, with much force, the danger
of permitting such men—the leaders of society—to
be slandered with impunity. He then briefly refer-
red to the points of the case, as they appear 1 the
Writ and specification, and proceeded-to call the

witnesses in behalf of the plaintifi:

John W Miller—Said he was acquainted with'the defendant,
Gen  Preston Pond. Called at his store in the latter part of
Februaryv, 1837. Had heard that Gen. P. had circulated bad re-
ports respecting Mr. Thatcher. Mr. Daniel Coik was in the
shop, when he entered, tilking with Gen. Pond about My, Thatch-
er. Asked Pond if the reports in circulation were true. He re-
plied, they were; that Mr. Thatcher was guilty of the erime of
adultery, and he could prove it, by his sister, Mrs. Jeruhha Pond.
He said the act was committed upon Adaline Hawes. Witness
veminded him that it was a high charge, and that Mr Thatcher
might prosecute him for it. He replied. he thought not, for if
he did he could not get much damage—not more than a cent,

-



7

Cross-examined — Not certain that Cook and Pond were talk-
ing about the reports when he entered the store. Cook is the
father of Gen. Pond’s partner in business. Witness called at
the request of Gen. A. H. Boyd to learn something about the
stories concerning Thatcher. Gen. Pond gave Mrs Jerusha Pond
as authority for all he knew about them. Did not know that
lady personally. '

Capt Benjamwn Blake—Inows Gen. P. Pond. Called at his
store, in March, 1837. Pond then stated to him that he had
heard that Mr Ihalcher had had intercourse with, or had had to do
with three women—Adaline Hawes, Mrs Slmmnns and Jerusha
Pond; that he had lain with Ad:lllﬂ(’ time and again. Thatcher
1S a minister of the gospel in North Wrentham. e has been a
preacher about 14 years in all—about 5 years pastor of the new
soclety there.

Cross exammned—The conversation mentioned was the first
witness had with Gen. Pond, respecting Thatcher’s misconduet.
Don’t know whether Gen P. ‘named any authority for his reports
or not. Was about the store Ralt an hour—talked with Gen. P.
only about 5 minutes. Several persons were present — Mr Ansel
Mann and Mr Sayles, are all that he can swear to. Don’t re-
member saying anythmg about Mrs Jerusha Pond = 1s a mem-
ber of Mr Thatcher’s Society. Thatcher does not exchange with
othier ministers.  Has not for some time—don’t know how long.
First mentioned the affair revealed by Gen Pond, to his wife,—
{Mr Merrick observed that this was suflicient reason for the
matter’s leaking out. |

Mr Cowell—Saw Gen. Pond the last of March or first of Apnil,
1837, at town meeting, talking with two gentlemen, about Rev.
Mr Thatcher. Doun’t knuw who the gentl>men were—believes
one was Silas P. Fisher.. Pond said that Thatcher had been in
bed with a woman, or that he had no doubt of it. Believe he
said that woman was Miss Hawes. Pond said he had no doubt,
and believe he said he could prove, that Mr. Thatcher was gullty
of the crime of adultery. Don’t recollect whether he had then
heard that this action had been commenced. Cross examwned—
Don’t recollect that Gen. P. stated from whom he obtained
his information respecting Thatcher’s bad-condict. i

John W. Jller—(Called again.)—Have had a conversation
with Gen. Pond respecting Thatcher, since the first mentioned.
It was in Walpole on muster day. VV!tneqq and Pond were talk-
ing—XPond Sdld he understood he (wituess) was to be evidence
against him in the approaching trial, and tnquired what he would
say. Told him the substance was. the conversation a’ the store,
Pond said he would admit all that. - The Adaline Hawes case
was talked over,. p

Cross examined—The conversation was very brief. Pond gave
him no new light.
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Joseph Ware—Knows Gen. P. Pond. At a town meeting three
or four years ago, heard Pond say, as he passed him, that Thatch-
er was ahout to qpeak-—-—c.alled him ** an old whuremaster » 5 +hd
not speak directly to him, but spoke quite loud. If it had been
still he miight have been’ heard in any part of the house.

On cross examination, said he had lived in Wrentham 29 or 30
years. Does not recollect who was near Gen. Pond when he ut-
tered the words above mentioned. Saw several within a few feet
of him. Thinks the word““whoremaster” was qpoken louder than
the rest of the sentence. Attends Thatcher’s meeting—is not a
member of his church. Thatcher does not exchange with other
preachers. He had been a candidate for public ufﬁce about a
year before the affair above mentioned.

The Counsel for the Plaintiff here closed the examination of

their witnesses, for the present.

TaeroN METCALF, Esq., opened the case in behalf of the defendant. He
said he should endeavor to show, that Gen. Pond, in making the allegations
charged, always gave his authority; and it is a settled principle in law, that
reporting what another man says, is not slander. Should he fail on this, he
expected to prove the facts charged by Gen. Pond, in the reports to which
he gave circulation. He said this more in sorrow than in anger. But if he
should fail here also, still he certainly should not fail to prove that the plain-
tiff was of such disparaged fame—of such entire want of moral character—
that he was not entitled to recover more than nominal damages. If he has, for
the last five or six years, had that ““good reputation and character for virtue,”
which he has alleged in his writ, he doubtless ought to recover heavy dam-
ages, unless the first or the second point of defence is maintained. But as the
evidence will show that the plaintifi’s reputation has long been nearly worth-
less, he cannot recover such damages. Whata man hath not, cannot be taken
from him. Mr. M. had no hostile feelling towards the plaintiff; and it was
with pain that he entered upon the performance of his duty to the defendant,
It was always far more agreeable to him to vindicate character, than to as-

sail it.
The witnesses in behalf of the Defendant were then called and

sworn.

Daniel Cook—YVas present at the conversation between Gen.
Pond and Mr. J. W. Miller, at the store. Miller came in and
inquired about the stories respecting Thatcher. Gen. Pond went
over the reports. As to their truth, he said he did not know; said
he had them from his sister, Deacon Smith Pond’s wife. She
and her husband were both members of Mr Thatcher’s chureh.
Pond said that Mr. Thatcher had attempted to commit adultery
with his brother Pond’s wife.

Cross ezamined— Cannot recollect, so as to state the conversg-
tion, so much has been said on this subject, in times past. My
son 18 Gen. Pond’s partner in business.
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Daniel A. Cook—Was present at the conversation between

Gen. Pond and Capt. Blake. Gen. Pond told Mr. Blake that
there had been improper intunacy between Mr Thatcher and cer-
tain women, Think he said that Mrs Jerusha Poud was bis au-
thorlty Sald the qulrjmt ought to he itIthalilf.llEd I Mr L.
was innocent he ought not to “suffer by lalse. lEpuits—-lr euilty,
lie should not be allowed to preach. Thinks it was at his SUY T ES-
tion that Capt. Blake was called to the store.  Being a me inher
of Mr Thatcher’s church, they waanted to know whut he would
say on the subject. Mr Sayles, he thinks, was not present —
Mr Anson Manu camne 1mnto Ihe store Juul at the close of the con-
versation. Don’t recolleet that there was any thing said about
Thatcher’s having adulterous connection with Mrs Simmons,
Don’t recollect what advances, or attempts upon his brother’s
wife, Gen. Pond said Thatcher had made.
- Cross examaned—DBlake was in the store about five minut~s,
The remark that Thatcher’s affairs ought to be investigated, was
made, he tininks, In the presence of Blalhe. Doun’t think he made
any replv. Would not swear positively that Gea Pund Tave
Mrs J Pond as his authority, for the reports—think he did,

Silas P. Fisher— Do ol recollect being present ut the  con-.
versation sworn to by Cowell, nor at any conversation where (en.
Pond spoke of Thatcher’s conduct, when Cowell was present.

Oliver Felf.—-1ive at Wrentham centre. - M¢ Thaicher’s
reputatlon where he is best knowu is not very good. His rep-
utation for Lhd‘illly and mnruh!y, 1S nol so guud a4s -that ol pt'uplﬁ -

in general, judging from cemmon report.
Cross-Bramined.— His chafucter has been bad for five or S1X

years.  Political contests aud religious divisions have taken
place during the peiiod, in which Mr T. has largely participated.
The political contests were severe.  Mr T. has been several
times a candidate for public office—for the State Sgnate, and
for Representative in Congress. lle has once been elected to
the State S8enate. The Ladlepurtq abont ;him, he believes were
in circalation before he was a candldatn for puhlmuﬁiu*

Philo Sanford Esq.—1 a- neighbor of Mr. Felt, Came to
rentham m 1831, Judging froly - anpamibt report, at that time,
Thatcher’s character for gond_lwh, fairness and chastity " was
rather doubtful. At preseut it falls short of the general stand-
ard. Has had but little personal acquintance with him.

Silas P. Fisher.— (called again) Recollects one conversation
with Gen Pond, at which John A, Craig was. pl‘ﬂ%tﬂt when
the subject of Th‘ltclwr 5 misconduct was Iltemlnn“d Gen, Pound
then said that Mr Thatcher had attempted to commit aduitery
with Adaline Hawes, and also, he thmks with Mrs, Jerusha
Pond. He gave Mrs Jerusha Pond as this authority. This
took place in front of Cook’s Store, "John A Craig , Elias Whi-

v
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ting, ,and he thinks, several others were present. Thinks the
precise words Pond usea were that Thatcher had altempted to
commit adultry. Don’t think Thatcher’s reputation as good as
that of men in general. 'The bad reports relate to him as a man,
- not as a candidate for office. |

- Cross-examined—This conversation, he thinks, took place in
in Spring of 1837. Bad reports respecting Thatcher have been
1in circulation a number of years., Live at Wrentham centre.

Col. George Hawes—Testified that Thatcher’s reputation for
chastity and morality sofar as he knew.had been as good as
that of other men, until the present case came up; now it does
not stand so fair as that of other men. Lives not far from
Wrentham centre. | : |

Danel Everett —'Testified that Thatcher’s reputation was bad.
It had been so for a number of years before tue commencement
of this suit., It isnow below that of other men.

Cross-examined—Lives at KEust Wrentham. Bad reports re-
specting Mr Thatcher have been in circulation 7 or 8 years.
Moved from Foxboro’ 4 years ago. Had heard bad reports about
Mr Thatcher before he entered town., |

Maj. John M. Everett— Lives in Foxboro. Thatcher’s reputa-
tton is bad. and has been 8o, according to common report, about
10 years. Compared with respectable people, for the first part
of that time. his reputation was low, and during the latter part,
it has been far below the common standard. These reporis relate
to him as a man, not as a candidate, and were circulated as much
when he was not up for office, as when he was,

Cross-exammed-—Have known Thatcher ten or twelve years.
When he preached in Foxboro’ about that time, his character was
not first rate. It has not been so good as some, since he has
been at Wrentham. Thinks he was settled in Wrentham within a
year or two after he went there from Foxboro’.

Sylvester Robinson—Lives at Foxboro. General reputation of
Thatcher for chastity and morality not good. Has heard of these
reports about three years. Have never been a member of Mr
Thatcher’s church, 1Is a member of Mr Pierce’s church, in

. Foxboro, and has always lived in that totvn. | | |
 John Summner— Lives in-Foxboro. Thatcher’s character is bad.
* Has been so three or four years. Compared with other men it
was below the common standard. 'These reports were spoken of
him generally. Witness belongs to Mr Pierce’s society. Did
not hear unfavorable reports of him when he preached in Foxboro.

Cross examined—Has heard bad reports respecting Thatcher for
four or five years. Never heard them from Gen Pond.

Samuel Leonard—Lives in Foxboro’. Thatcher’s reputation
for chastity &c is bad. Has been so for four or five years. I
has been low compared with respectable people generally. Re-

‘ports were against him as a man, not as a candidate,
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Cross examined—Knew Thatcher when he preached before Mr
Pierce’s society. Heard nothing bad of him then. Rather more
than five years since he had heard bad reports.

Lews Fisher, Esq—Lives in Franklin.. Have been a magis-
trate several years. Thatcher’s general reputation is not good,
It has been bad several vears. Reports were agaiost him as a .
maan, not as a candidate, First reports against Thatcher were
circulated about five or seven years ago. Have been a County
Commissioner several years. Thatcher has never been settled
over a soctety of which witness was a member.

Cross examined-—Bad reports were in circulation at the time
he was a candidate for office. Live about a mile from Mr
Thatcher now. Always have lived about four miles distant,
Candidates for office are hke ly. to run the gdunllelt

John Fisher— Thatcher’s reputation is decidedly bad. His char-
acter, since 1829, has been on the decline. Thinks the
reports were first circulated before he was a candidate for office.
Has not been a member of Mr T’s society. Lives in Frauk-
lin.

Cross examined —I.ewis Fisher 1s my father. Witness said he
could fix the precise date whepn the bad reports were (irst ¢ircu-
lated, it he had certain data. Mr Merrick inquired what data
he alluded to. The record of the birth of a boy., What boy?
One Morrili, son of a certain Juhia Morrill, whom report said My
Thatcher carned to a town In Connertlcm where the lmv was
born. Mr Merrick—You may take your seat; sir. - |

Gen Boyd testified to ‘Phatcher’s bad Lhrllrll_,fﬁl", by report,
Those reports were not sdch as attended candidates for oflice
in general.  Lives in Franklin,

Win Boyd —Resides at Medway; testified to Thatcher’'s bad
reputation; it has been so six yjears; It respects bis character
for chastity.

Wimn. Ide —Lives at Suuth V\rlenthnm Bad reports have of |ate
been circulated about Mr. 't hatcher., When candidate for «fjice,
reparts were circulated dtnpdrnn‘lmr his character for chastity.

wramn P Fisher—Thatcher’s reputation 1s very bad, as to chag-
tity and morality. Has been so for six or seven-years. Reports
concerning him as a man, not as a candidate,

Meletiah Everelt. E;q—-'l hatcher’s character—has labaored
about six }féars. lwports affect his character for chastityv—it is
below the common standard. First heard these reports when he
was candidate for the Senate, in 1831. Afier the canvass, made
some inquiry — jound his character bad. His character within a
year and a half has declined. IHas never been my mimster.

Walter - H. Fisher—Resides im=I'ranklin. Testified that the
reputation of the plaintiff for chastity has been bad, for 10 or 12

years,
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- Cross-Eramined—Witness is a member of the old Society in
WNorth Wrentham, separated from Mr Thatcher.  Called upon
Mr Thatcher, with his sister, for the purpose of a social talk, six
or seven years ago.  She wa-; not married. Bad reports were
in circulation, bat did not deem it improper for him to take his sis-
ter there.  Was friendly then to Mr Thatcher. Since jiining
the other Society he has not been unfriendly, but lms discontinued
his personal visits,

Rewv. Wan. H;?low—-Rpmdes at Wlentham Thatchel s genelal
yeputation is not good . Has been bad three or four years. These
reports have related to Mr Thatcher’s chastity.  Has not been on
friendly terms . with him for four years.

Cross- Examwmed —teard something said, about three years ago,
about Mr Thatcher’s being on too friendly terms with Miss
Flawes. As to common opinion and common report he believed
part of the public were ranged upon one side, and part on the
other, .

Rev. Dr. Park of Stoughton—Mr Thatcher’s early reputation
Wils gnnd Have kpown him ever since he entered col-
lege.-  (General report for three years has been un!averable,
Have not exchanged with him for that period of time; had ex-
changed with him before. Thatcher belonged to the same clevi-

¢l associalion: none of that association have exclmnged with bm
since he has thrown off the Church diseipline.

Cross Kramined—Thinks the interruption took place in 1831,

~otheught Lhim a fair candidate for lhe nuruatiy and louk a pmt at
his ordination.

Rev Mr. Pierce of Foxboro —Pastor of society there; it is six
and a hall miles from Wrentham; Thatcher’s reputation has been
bad 7 or 6 years: these reports regdrd his chastity.

Cross-Ii ammed—Knew Thatcher in college; he gave Right
Hland of Fellowship at my ordination; his reputation stood fatr

uiottl the division reqpectmg EcbleldSllCHl matters; has not e¢x-
changed with him since,

Mrs Jerusha M Pond, was called. This witness is the wife of
Mr Smith Pond, and sister-in-law of Gen Preston Pund the de-
ﬁ adant in this ease, She is a member of the old religions society

2 North Wrentham, from which Mr. Thatcher and ln-; congrega-
tmu separated. A queatmn of law was raised by the mmn:-,-el for
llmml} s !o the propriety of admitting her testimony. It was
overuled by the coutt, and her evidence wag admitted.

Mrs Pond stated that she had a conversation with Gen Pond,
on the subject of Mr Thatcher’s improprieties of conduct, in Sept,
18°6. Gen P. and witness are not members of the same church.

Witness said she told her. brother-in-law in September, that
" Adaline Hawes had confessed to her, that My Thatcher, the plain-
tiff, had been i n bed with her in his mﬂ'ht ciothes, more than once.
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The first time, as Adaline said, was five or six years ago. It was
one night when a printing press came up from Boston, and Mrs.
Thatcher, from some cause or other, speut the night at the house
of the witness, The next time was one nizht when My Fhatcher
and herself stopped all pight at Mr Nathan Reed’s in Attleboro’.
Adaline told her when they returned, that. Mr Thatcher was that
night in bed with her. She said that afier all the family had retir-
ed, Mr Thatcher gol tlp,ﬂnnd let out, or prett*n'dt'd to let out, a cat.
On another occasion, Mr Thatcher went to Abington with bis wile
to visit 1 child, at school there. Returning [2ft his wife at Deacon
Rhoads’ in Foxboro,” and arrived at his own house about midnight,
and Adaline said they were that night in bed together.  Mr I hatch-
er, the next day went after his wife, and Adaline then told her
what had happened. All these things witness said she told Gen
Pond, at the conversation in Sept. 1835. In answerto a question
—witness said she told Gen Pond that Miss Hawes said Mr,
Thatcher ¢ wet her” when they were together, and that this hap-
pened more than once. ; ; a '
Cross-examined—W itners said she told Gen Pond all these
things at one time—Adaline Hawes told her the events as they
occurred. The printing press affair happened about six years ago
— Attleboro’ affair four ;i five years ago. Thinks she told Gen
Poond where Mr Thatcher had beei when he stoppéd at Attleboro’
with Adaline. Wiiness says she has been an intnnate and famihar
Ariend of Miss Hawes. That intimacy does not now continue. - It
ceased when Miss fiawes knew that she had told her husband of
these things, in Nov. 1836. Told her husband not loug—a few
weeks—Dbefore she mentioned the matter to ¢<en Pond. Adaline
broke off the intimacy, +Hluad written very {riendly letters to Ada-
line. Never heard any thing against her reputation, Have been
a member of the chyreh since 1824.  Was twenty-one at the time
of making a profession of religion—had then been married one
year. Joined Mr Thatcher’s church, and continued a member of
it after the sepuration, till Sept. 1836. | |
[14 letters were here introduced by Mr Merrick, counsel for the

plaintiff, which were identified by the witness, and admitted as ev-
idence. | |

The cross-examination continued. Witnesswrote very frequent-
iy to Mr and Mrs Thatcher, The correspondence did not continue
until she left Mr Thatcher’s society — it was broken off about a
year previous to that ime, Was on terms of closest intitnacy with
Mr and Mrs T, and - with Adaline Hawes: did not leave the church
on account of Adaline’s misconduct. Witness was asked whether
she bad or had not said, within fwo or three years paft, that she
considered Mr Thatcher an eminent christian and a perfect géntle-
man. She replied; she had no recollection of saying he was a gen-
tieman; did say he was a christian, for I certainly thought so. My

Merrick—Did yeu loge Adaline Hawes while telling Gen Pond

-
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these stories ? I did. Do you love her now? I do—I love her
with the love of benevolence. Was present when fAdaline’s de-
position was taken; went to hear what she would say. Mr Mer-
rick—Did you furnish your husband with any letters or papers to
assist in taking that deposition ? ns. Gave Lim one letter, writ-
“ten by Adaline; don’t recollect any others. Myr Merrick—Did
you not prepare and furnish ycur husband with a statement of what
vou told Gen Pond ? Jins. Did furhish one [prepared for Mr
Thatcher’s chusch examination. I think the statement was pre-
pm*rd before my husband and Gen Pond were sued for defamation,
Gavela.copy of the statement to my husband, when first prepared,
and he gave it into the bhands of the c’lumh Don’t know that
Gen Pond ever saw it. 1 did have a conversation with Adaline
Hawes after the deposition was taken.

Counsel for Defendant—We wisk you to state, Mrs Pond, your
relations to Mir Thatcher and Adaline Hawes, and the reasons why
you did not sooner communicate the stortes Adaline had told you,
to your husband, or some one else. Take ample time, and give
the reasons in your own way.

Mrs Pond—Adaluie said these things did not occur often, and
that after they had happened, Mr Thatcher was always very peni-
tent; that he often kept long seasons of fasting and prayer, and
humbted himself ogreatly before her., On one occasion, Adaline
satd Mr T, prayed with her, while they were riding together 1n a
chaise; she was then somewhat unwell, and Mr Thatcher said he
feared his impropricties of conduct might be the cause of her 1ll-
ness, and no one, he added, could tell how he abhorred himsell in
dust and ashes.» I believed that he had repented. IfeverI was con-
verted it was under his preaching—was a member of his chureh,
much attached to hun as a pastor, Adaline said Mr Thatcher had
told her he had serious thoughts of makingghimself an eunuch. 1
regarded hin as a man of uhtllty thought very highly of him in
every respect.  When his church wes divided 1 went with him, as
the children of Israel {ollowed their leader, DMr Thatcher was
very kind to us—his conversation was highly edifying and attrac-
ltive; we relied much upon him, he was our spiritual guide, our
eader, our all. We desired union 1n the church—in this, he told
~us, our strength consisted. lis pecuniary embarrassments were
frrmt, and excited our sympathies. I felt too, that I had no right
to betray the confidence of Adaline.

Jidr Choate. Why did you tell your~husband, and Gen. Pond,
what Adaline had revealed, at all?

Mrs. Pond—In the autumn ot 1836, 1 applied to Mr Thatcher
for,a dismission, and asked for a recommendation to another
church, ol a te'-gmnonml of good standing. After the recommen-
dation was received, DMy, Thatcher Lﬂ“Ed at the house of wilness,

and said he had no idea that all the members had.not consented,
v.l en'the testimonials were given, he had*since learned that some

iy
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of the members said she had been gwilly of writing with a pencil
during Divine Service. Witness confessed the charge; said she
‘had, in that way, asked a friend to remain after meeting, and that,
on another occasion, she inquired, by writing, ‘“‘who that was,”
(meaning a particular person) iustead of whispering. Witness
acknowledged hersell willing to do any thing to wipe away this
‘reproach upon her christian character — and burst into tears. At
this moment, her liUEbillld,_Dt‘iiCﬂl] Smilh Pund, C'dtne. i__n .ﬂnd_ Mr.
Thatcher tmmediately left:  Mr Pond asked for an explanation of -«
the cause,of her tears.. €8he told him what Mr Thatcher had
said, and added, ‘‘I shou'd not think he would say any thing
about it when he knows what he has done.”” Nothing further was
said upon the subject ai this tuwe.  After witness and her husband
had retired for the night, he asked what she meant by saying
Thatcher knew what he hod done. After some hesitation, and
with many tears, she related all that Adaline Hawes had told
her. el ‘

In answer to g question witnesz said Mr Thatcher had frequent-
ly requested her not to say avy thing about his improprieties of
conduci tow ards herself, .

[ v itness said Mr Thatcher viged upon her mind a principle
laid down in Kev Dr Park’s Moral Philosophy—viz- 1f a deed is
Tepented ot we may tiuly say it has nover been committed.  This,
she utkfmwludged, had no effect 1in iullucing her to ke‘ell Adaline’s
secrets, and-1t was theiefore ruled out of the evidence by the
JUd;{t’: ] . .

Mrs Pond continued: Adaline’s indisposition commenced about
three years ego last avtumal  She hed i Mr Thatcher’s family
6 years; is about 33 yeuis old, and was never married.

In January, 1837, My Thatcher sent several numbers of his pa-
per called the Congregationalist to our house,  Wishing to inform
him that the stoiry ol bis conuexion with Adaline had been reveal-
ed, and of the danger w which be siood, wituess wrote a letter,
and handed it to Mr Thatcher on Sasbath day, at church. The
following 1s a copy, as near as the witness can now write it, from
memor y : Y | |

: WreEsTHAM, June 13, 1837,

Necessily urges me to write (o _you at. this tune, te let you know just how
I awm situated The lastevening 1 spent with Adaline, I begged her Lo confess
to you that she had made known o e all that had transpired between you,
but fearing shat she has not done it 1 feel compelled to do 1t mvself. She has
told me ali—yes, this 13 a dreadiuf fact, but she has told e every thing, even
to —— in your study cluanber at the Bird place. The various and
muoltiplicd tin.es you have been in bed with her, and all that transpired be-
tween you. Onece in Attlebor  ugh, at Mr. Reed's,—onee when yon left your
wite here to spend the nght with us— and many other tuimes.” Now what
shall ‘1 do? I am qiestioned contimually., It yvou have any wisdom keep
things as quiet as you can or the whole will certurniy come out. Don’t-send us
another ** Congregationalist”—1or if you do it will certainly be sent back, and
that mighe lead to enquiries you would not wish to have made,

-
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My Choate—Mrs Pond, did Miss Polly Merrifield, now Mrs

Harding, ever tell you any circumstances respecting Mr Thatcher,
that happened several years ago? ' |

Mrs Pond— She did. One evening, five or six years ago, there
was a brilliant display of the Noithern hights; all the family, con-
sisting, among uthers. of Mr and Mrs Thatcher, Polly Merrifield,
and Adaline Hawes, went out in front of the house to witness the
phenomenon, Aiter looking at the heavens some time, ihey all
returned to the house; and at the usnal hour, the whole family,
except Mr Thatcher and Adaline, retired to their chambers. Miss
Merifield heard wnispers in the entry, and taking offt her shoes
stepped to the door of her apartinent and listened. She heard no
words distinctly.  After this she heard persons in the study—and
i about an hour Adaline came up to bed. She appeared much
surprised to find that Miss Merrifield bad not retired for the night;
aud after this, Adaline said she always believed Mrs Thatcher
suspected something was wrong. Witness thinks she told (zen.
Pond these circumstances, at the conversation in S»ptember, 1836,
as she told -him all that Adaline had revealed —don’t recollect pos-
itively that she did tell him—certainly thinks she did. Gen. Pond
spoke to her in such a way that she theught he knew all she had
told her hushand—and she therefore, at the time he threw out
these hints, revealed the whole, at the conversation alluded to.
 Mrs Harding — DMy malden name was Polly Merrifield. "Rec-
ollect the circumstances attending the display of the northern
lights, while living in the house wiih Mr Thatcher. Mr Thatcher
and his wife. Adaline Hawes and mysell, went out to witness the
display. We all retived, except Me Thatcher and. Adaline.—
Kuew Mrs Thatcher “'was in her chamber - she was line, and
wore a high-heeled shoe; heard her step. I heard whispers in
“the entry below, and tiuking off my shoes, weat 10 the door and
listened. Heard whispers about five minutes. The persons then
went into the library room, and in about an hour or two Adaline
came up to bed. 1 had not prepared to retire. Adaline appear-
ed much surprised to ficd me still sitting up, This was about the
year 1830. Lived :n Mr Thatcher’s house, with my brother,
about 15 months., |

Dea. Smith Pond-—-Wiiness is afflicted with an infirmity of
hearing; says his deafuess has inereased one half within 6 months.
Hus been a Deacon in Mr Thatcher’s chareh, and still holds the
same office ia the old Society, Called upoa Mr Thatcher. about
the middle of February, 1837; had a close interview with him in
his study; told him reports were in circulation affecting his moral
and christian character, and desired an explanatiun of those ru-
mors. Some of them, he added, he knew to be false—that con-
cerning Eliza Perrigo, now Mrs Simmons, and that respecting

improper conduct with his wife (Mrs Jerusha Pond) in London

Bridge Woouds, DBut there were other reports, respecting which
b
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he had evidence enough to carry conviction to his own mind, that
they had some foundation in trutk. The evidence, he told him,
came through his wife from Adaline Hawes, with whom, he was
supposed to have had criminal intercourse, Mr. Thatcher said he
was aware that reports unfaverable to his character were in circu-
lation. Witness asked if he mightstate the charges.  Mr. Thatch-
er replied that he might, but he should not hold himself responsi-
ble to admit or deny them. Witness mentioned the circumstance
of Thatcher’s leaving his wife at his house to spend the night, and
going home alone—(the printing press affair)—told him his wife
carried Mrs. Thatcher home the next day, and that Adaline then
told her that Mr, Thatcher was in bed with her that night. Mr,
Thatcher did not deny, or admit the charge—but did not seem to
recollect leaving his wife at the witness’ house, that night. Wit-
ness did not press the subject, but proceeded to mention another
report ; told Mr. Thatcher that he once put up at Dea. Reed’s, in
Attlebero’, with Miss Hawes, and that he was that night in bed
with her. Mr. Thatcher denied ever stopping over night at Dea,
Reed’s with Miss H. Witness told him he was not certain that it
was Dea. Reed’s, but it was at a house in Attleboro’. Mr. Thatch-
er made no reply. Wilness proceeded with his charges—said he,
““ Mr. Thatcher, you have lain with Adaline Hawes time and
again.” Mr. Thatcher replied, ‘“ Now there is a chance to play
upon words ; what do you mean by laying or lodging with Ada-
line ?”’. 1 answered, ‘“ You undressed yourself, went to bed with
her, and laid till morning ;" said he, ‘“If you mean all that, I
deny the charge.” Witness said he had not then charged Mr.
Thatcher with polluting Miss Hawes. Next said, *“ Mr. Thatcher,
you have more than a hundred times—no, I won’t say a hun-
dred, but a great many times,” The expression used by Miss Hawes
to his wife was, * > Mr. Thatcher did not confess or deny
the last charge, but said the witness could not preve it—he had no
tangible evidence. ‘¢ Besides,”” said Mr. T'hatcher, ‘“I have a
communication from your wife, expressing her confidence in me,
written since these things took place, which would go to invalidate
or destroy her testimony.”” ‘Told him I was aware of that fact,
and the only apology she could make, was'her apparent belief 1n
his innocence, or sincere repentance. ‘‘ But with regard to my
wife hersell,] I added, ‘‘we have tangible evidence—your right
hand, Mr. Thatcher, has been where it had no business to be
and besides that, you have urged my wife to meet you in the school-
house alone, i the dark of the evening.” His reply was
‘“1 have a wife and children as dear to me as yours, and I ask
vou, Dea. Pond, what course you intend to pursue with regard to
this matter r¢° 1 answered, ‘1 would not hurt a hair of your head,
Mr Thatcher, 1 want you to repent of these things il possible,” He
replied, “‘I hope 1 have repented, and received the forgiveness of
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‘God ; I broke away from these things about two years age; I
then wrote a solemn resolution in my Bible, to which 1 have en-
deavored constantly to adhere.”” He showed me his Bible—the
- resolution was written upon a blank leaf. 1 asked bim to read it,
and he did so; I told him it was a very good one. He said he
-bad endeavored to keep that resolution unviolated—spoke of the
confidence we had reposed in each other, in former times—allud-
ed to the kindness with which my wile had treated his {amily in
seasons of sickness and distress—and asked, ifthere was now any
way by which he could be restored to my confidence. 1 told him
yes, in five minutes, 1f he would make a proper confession, Mr.
Thatcher said, ‘1 confess I have been guilty of astonishing im-
proprieties of conduut and I do not deny but I have committed
adultery with Adaline Hawes in my heart, but I do wot think I
have been gutlty of the overt act; can I have your forgiveness ¢’
Witness replied, ‘“Yes, you have it.”” ‘That was nearly the close
of the conversation. Woitness told Mr. T. he intended to call with
his wife, and prove that he had restored him to favor.

The next evening the weather was very stormy ; witness and
his wile, were sitting by the parlor fire ; Mr. Thatcher called in,
and took a seat by the fire. e said he had come to humble him-
self before us both, and ask our forgiveness. Told him I was re-
joiced and thankful to find bhim in that state of mind. Mr. Thatch-
er said he had recently been to visit Rev. Mr Simmons of Attle-
boro’, who treated him with great severity—told him to go home,
and make a public confession of his crimes, to quit the ministry,
and retive into obscurity. He complained much of this—said the
report had not spread f(ar, and he thought the matter might be got
over easier. Told him we would grant all the assistance in our
power ; told him I had spontaneousrly written to Mr Simmons, and
showed bim the letter. He asked if I would also write to Jo-

seph G. Gerrald, a brother of his wife; and to Rev. Mr Ide on the
same subject. 'L'old him I would. He then asked for a Card, or
Certificate, sicned by myself and wife, to be published in his pa--
per, lt,stlf'ymg to bis good character. After some hesitation, re-
fused. Did not want my name brought out in publie, in cannex—
ion with these reporte. About th*lttune leer Potter’s confes-
sion had fallen 1ato | arked that he was
sorry, a man that he so much respected, and had heard preach
with so much fervor, should so degrade himself. [Mr Thatcher
siched, and said—‘‘Poor man, I know how to pity him ; I have
no doubt butI have held more than a bundred days of fasting and
prayer, on account of temptation to sensual indulgence.” Wit-
ness felt much surprised at this declaration. NMr Thatcher soon
after left the house. Inreply to a question, witness said he made
the complaint to Mr Thatcher’s church before he knew that he
was sued by Mr T. ; was informed that the church had held a
meeting on the subject before he prepared his complaint.
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- Cross exammation.—Did not tell Mr Thatcher how long ago,
the several circumstances of lying with Adaline took place. id
not tell him at what time he put his right hand where he ought not,
Thatcher never asked witness to repair injuries he had done his
character by circulating bad reports ; he never said witness had
told any thing but the everlasting truth. Witness was shewn a

per, which he acknowledged to be the complaint presented to
the charch by himself. Witness said Thatcher wrote him a letter,
stating how the complaint-had been disposed of, the same week it
was presented. The complaint charged Mr Thatcher with an at-
tempt to break the seventh commandment. Mr Thatcher’s letter
stated that the church thought best he should sue it ; understood
he was sued, at the same time Gen, Pond was sued.

The examination of Witnesses in behalf of the Defendant closed
here. ‘ |

A number of witnesses were here introauced by the counsel for
the plaintiff.

Rev. Mr Thompson.— Known pltff. seveuteen years—Ilived in
my family while pursuing his theclogical studies. So far as he
knows, pltfi’s character has been’ good. Idad not heard bad re-
ports till time of DMasonic excitement, They soon passed away;
so far as he knew, his character stood fair—had not heard bad re-
ports till this suit commenced. Live at Rehohoth, Has continued
his exchanges once or twice a year with Mr T'. until the present
time. Does not often exchange. Principally with Thatch-
er and Simmons. Rzhoboth is about 20 miles from N. Wren-
tham. Preaches in a school house, or private dwelling, and there-
fore does not “solicit exchanges Heard a report several years
ago, circulated lsy one Sayles, affecting plaintiff’s character.

Dyr. Seba Carpenter.—ILives at Attleboro’ ; has been ac-
guainted wiih plaintiff’ about 20 years. While preparing for the
ministry, his reputation for chastity and morality was good. Re-
port concerning him, until within two or three years past, has
heen favorable. Has not heard so many bad reports about people
generally, as aboat the plaiatiff, )

Beng. Rockwood.—Knows plaintiff. His general reputation 1n
‘Wrentham, has been good, so far as he has heard any conversa-
tion about it. Is a member of Mr Thatcher’s society ; lives in N,
Wrentham. First heard plaintiff’s character called in question in
1829 or ’30; can’t say, but more has been said against plaintifi,
than against other men.

Amos Waller.—Has known plaintiff since 1814 ; his general
reputation has. been good until within a year, and among his par-
ticular acquaintance it is good now. On cross examination—said
that many suspect his moial character. '

Rev Job Cushman.— Known plaintiff about 17 years ; has lived
few months in IN. Wrentham ; left in September, 18€6, In
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college he stood high ; up to 1829 his character was good—alfter
that period, there was a general unfavorable impression against
him. Preached before the old society separated from Mr Thatcha
er’s ; was well acquainted with Dea Smith Pond and wife. In
Sept, 1836, visited Mr Pond’s family and staid there over night ;
Lives in Prescott, Hampshire Co. On cross examination—wit-
ness said—by unfavorable, I mean, deeply, greatly, unfavorable.

Leonard Fuller—Lives at North Wrentham; has known
Thatcher some years ; his general reputation has been good ; at-
tend Mr Thatcher’s meeting more than any other.

Ebenezer Blake, Esqg—Resides at North Wrentham; has
known plaintiff several years; his general character for a year
past has been bad; the bad reports circulated in 1829 died away;
within a year and a half they have been revived ; belongs to
Mr Thatcher’s society; assisted in forming and sustaining it.

Amos Starkie—Knows plaintiff; his general character has been
good; lives about 11 miles from North Wrentham. On cross ex-
amination—said he had heard unfavorable reports respecting the
chastity of plaintiff. Can’t say whether the majority of people
are for or against him.

Peter Adams—Resides in Franklin § has,known the plaintiff;
his general reputation i1s good. Perhaps there are not so wany
unfa vorable reports in circulation respecting other people; these
reports have been in circulation more than one year.

Cyrus Allen—Resides in Franklin; hasknown plaintiff many
years; has consideréd his general reputation good, but it is not
80 good as that of people in general; it has been so half a dozen
years. |
James M. Perrigo—Koows Mr Thatchlier; attends his meeting
more than any other; his general reputation is good.

Tvmothy Ide—Resides in Wrentham; has known Thatcher 10
years; considcrs his general reputation good. Cross examin-
ation—Belongs to Thatcher’s society; don’t think he has heard
more unfavorable reports of other people.

David Pond—Resides in Wrentham; kmows Thatcher; don’t
know but Thatcher’s reputation 1s good. Cross examined—don’t
~ recollect hearicg bad reports concerning plaintiff till commence-
ment of this action. To day his reputation is bad.

Shem Armsby—Has been selectman of Wrentham; knows
Thatcher; his reputation before 1829 was [air; since then it has
been gradually on the decline; belongs to Mr Thatcher’s so-
ciety at present time.

Salmon Mann—Resides in Wrentham; knows plaintiff; his
reputation was good until the commeuncement of this action.
Cross examined—since 1829 one part of the community have
~ held himin a less favorable light than they have other people;

his character to day is bad; am a member of Mr Thatcher’s
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church; 18 not positive the complaint of Mr Pond was read
before the church, thinks it was; don’t recollect that Mr Thatch-
er advised postponement of action upon it.

Job Nichols—Has known Mr T. about 8 or 9 years; his reputa-
tion until commencement of this suit has been good, with the ex-
ception of two unfavorable reports. On cross examination said,
two or three years ago he refused to let his daughter ride with
him on account of a bad story about him; his general reputa-
tion at that time was good; he had heard the bad story only
from one person. |

Dr. Artemas Brown. Witness resides in Medway; Has known
plaintift 14 or 15 years; Have been his family physician, and has
practiced in his parish and throughout the town where he has
resided. The aggregate of public sentiment, so far as witaess
knows, is 1n favor of his character.

Spencer Hodges—Resides in Foxboro knows the plaintiff. As
to his general reputution —more speak against him than for him.

Dea Rhoads—Resides in Foxboro’; known plaintiff fifteen years.
His geaeral public reputation was good until he reneunced kree-
masonry. Siace then the majority of the people, he thinks, have
been against him. ;

Myr. Yerrington. Resides in Boston; knows Mr. Thatcher.
Previous to 1829, heard nothing against the plaintiff; until with-
in a year past heard nothing against his moral character. Since
he renounced masonry, has heard bad reports,

Elizabeth Daniels —1 was at Mr. Thatcher’s at the time his wife
was sick ; had some conversation with her., Mrs. Jerusha Pond
spoke very highly of Mr.Thatcher—said he was a perfect gentle-
man, umted with a christian—one of the best of men.

Adaline Hawes—Resides in North Wrentham, with her mother ;
health not good at present. Lived in Mr. Thatcher’s family
st years—Ileft in 1835. ‘Was acquainted with Jerusha Pond ; cor-
responded with her. Never informed Mrs. Pond that Mr. Thatch-
er had been guilty of improper intercourse with me, either in his
night or any other clothes. Mr, Thatcher never was ia or on bed
with me. Never informed Mrs. Pond that Mr. Thatcher had
humbled himself in dust and ashes, in consequence of any impro-
prieties towards me, Never told Mrs. Pond that Mr. Thatcher
said he had thoughts of making an eunuch of himself ; never said
any thing of that nature. Never made use of any thing indicative
of Mr. Thatcher’s improper conduc¢t towards me. Lived in My
T.’s family when the printing press came up from Boston ; Mr. anc
~ Mrs. Thatcher and myself, were at home ; nothing eccurred the'
night, of an improper nature, on the part of Mr. Thatcher. Stop
ped with Mr. Thatcher over night at Nathan Reed’s, in Attleboro’
nothing occurred respecting Mr. Thatcher’s coming to my bed—
‘he did not come—did not say he did to Mrs. Pond. No particulas
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recollection of being in Foxboro’ with Mr. Thatcher. Nathmg 1m-
}Eoner transpired at Mr. Thatcher’s house, in Mrs. T.’s absence.
ecollect the affair of the northern l:ghts ; nothing improper oc-
curred at that time ; recollect of being in the entry with him a mo-
ment—do not recollect whispering. Never mentioned the name
~of Polly Merrifield to Mrs. Pond on any occasion. Never was
under any apprehension from any thing that she overheard.
Cross-exammed——-No recollection of whtapermﬂ in Mr. Thatch-
er’s entry, on the evening northern lights were seen, Will not
swear any lhmﬂ' about it. Remember the evening alladed to dis-
tinctly. Don’ t remember whether I went directiy to bed or not.

The examination of witnesses in behalf of plaintiff, closed here.

Rurus Croare, Esq. argued the case for the defendant. His
remarks were able cloquent, and in the_highest degree affecting.
‘As we have remarked before, even the Cool, phiiosophic members
of the bar could not conceal lhe:r emotion. Their hearts swelled
almost to bursting, and the tears started into their eyes. Mr
Choate consented to prepare a sketch of his remarks for this Re-
port, but the manuscript had net arrived, when the last pages were
put to press. The highest (,mnpltment the Reporter. can pay the
Hon. gentleman 1is, that he was unable to follow him in the argu-
ment. Bold lhoughls, rich images, happy illustrations, and 1m-
passioned bursts of eloquence, followed each other in rapid suc-
cession, overwhelmed the mind with admiration and surprise, and
the pen dropped powerless from the hand. We took but few notes,
and shall only a®tempt a brief history of the argument. Mr Mer-
rick was more cool, and ingenious, but not the less able.

Mr Choate Opened his mgument by saving that the case was an
important, but not a difficult one. T he rule of law was clear.—
The jury had chieily to guard against permitting their feelings to
kindle at the astonishing and mvultmtr story revealed by the wit-
nesses. ‘'The plaintiil, he said, comes here seeking a reputation.
He should have sought f{n”lveness for his offences from a higher
power, and a more tamlhdt acquaintance with Divine commandb
from the pages of his Bible. He alluded with great severity teo
the conduct of Mr Thatcher—that ‘‘elerical seducer,” as he
termed him. 'There was satisfactory evidence, he believed, that
Mr Thatcher bad lain again and again with Adaline Hawes—that
1e had committed udultery with her. He noticed the fact that Mr
Thatcher proposed to make an eunuch of himself~that he con-
fessed he was so much under the control of his overboiling and un-
governable passions that he could not resist temptation. He al-
tuded to the fact that Mr Thatcher had made attempts upon the.
chastity of Mrs Smith Pond—that he had endeavored to induce-
her to meet him at the school house, alone, in the evening—that.
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had offered insulting proposals to her—and that he had foreibly

aced his hand upon the privacy of her person. And this outrage

s perpetrated by a spiritual guide, upon a female converted un-

¢ his own ministrations! He contrasted with much force, the

pearance of Mrs Pond and Adaline Hawes, as the jury had

:n them upon the stand: the intelligent, amiable, candid and

iristian-like deportment of the one, with the peevish, cowering,

iting manner of the other. The ruined creature, he said, dared

t raise her head; she shrunk from investigation. He alluded to

rs Pond’s long concealment of the story revealed by Adaline;

nd the forgiving character of her husband. All this, he said, was
erfectly natural, when we take into consideration the powerful
ligious influences under which they acted, and the fearful ascen-
ancy which Mr Thatcher possessed over the minds of his follow-
rs. Mrs Pond’s own reasons—so beautifully delivered upon the
tand by the witness herself---were sufficient to account for all
1is.  She was converted under his preaching; she was for a long
me a member of his church, and her hushand held one of its most
aportant offices; that church wasdivided; in union their strength
onsisted; the members that remained, rallied around their pastor,
nd her attachment was strengthened; when he had been guilty.
f1mproprieties of conduct, he imposed upon Adaline a belief in
wis deep and sincere repentance.  Besides, a disclosure involved
he betrayal of great personal confidence. 1 cannot believe, said
Vir Choate, that my learned brotber intends to make an attack
upon the character of that respectable witpesss.

Mr. Choate then alluded to the lctter written to Mr. Thatcher,
by Mrs. Pond, and handed to him at church. In thisshe betrayed
no resenfment, no design to raise money; by her knowledge of his
cuilt ;—no, she was still the devoted woman she appeared through-
out the case—still tenderly attached to her perfidious pastor.

Has Mr, Thatcher lain with Adaline Hawes ? I grieve to say,
remarked Mr. Choate, that the evidence upon this poiat is too pos-
itive to be refuted or even denied.. He wished, he said, to sustain
the order of clergy—they were a respectable and useful class---but
the whole tenor of the testimony in this case, proved Mr. Thatcher
to be a bad man. His reputation has been bad for an average oj
5IX or seven years—to-day it is utterly ruined. Even hisown wit-
nesses have deserted him upon the stand. Rev., Mr. Thompson,
ard Dr. Carpenter, confess that his reputation is below the com-
mon standard. Job Cushman, brought nearly one hundred mile:
to assist 1n supporting the character of the plamtiff, can say noth
ing in his favor. . Shem Armsby tells you that his reputation sine:
1829, has beensgradually declining. Then look at the testimon
of NMrs. Harding, with regard to the northern lights.  What w.
that whispering in the entry for 7—why did Miss Hawes remain a:
hour or two 1n the study with that clerical seducer, at midnight
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Mr. Choate then went into an examination of the testimony of
Dea. Smith Pond. He noticed the several occasions on which it
is said Mr. Thatcher was in bed with Adaline Hawes ; the suspi-
cious manner in which he treated Dea. Pond at the interview in
his study—the indifference which he manifested, and his disposi-
tion to quibble about words and forms, at a time when his charae-
ter was at stake---and finally, how suddenly he sunk down and
confessed his improprieties of conduct, when Dea. Pond presented
““tangible” evidence against him---when he declared that his right
hand had sought the delicate privacies 6f his wife. And with
how much money, said Mr. Choate will you fill the hand of a man
who has thus outraged the decencies of domestic life? At this
conversation, Mr. Thatcher said ‘I hope 1 hiave repented.” Re-
pented of what? What was this but a confession of ‘‘astonishing
improprieties..”” When he came in the storm, ““‘to humble him-
self before Deacon Pond and wife”’—a teacher asking the forgive-
ness of his people—and the subject of Ilder Potter’s confession
was mentioned, he exclaimed with a sigh, ‘I know exactly how
too feel for that poor man!”

In conclusion Mr Choate remaked that the performance of his
duty on this occasion was extremely painful to his feelings. All
his earliest and holiest associations, and all his dearest relations in
life, were connected with members of the sacred profession to
which the plaintiff belonged. With his brother, who opened the
case, he must say that it was always far more agreeable to him to
vindicate character than to assail it.

Prixy Merrick, Esq. then rose, to adddress the Court and Ju-
ry in behalf of the plaintiff. His client, he said, belonged to one
of the most sacred and responsible classes of men. In comment-
ing upon the evidence in this case, he should not-attempt to com-
pete with the strength and elegance of the argument delivered by
his learned and talented friend on the other side—he should con-
fine himself to a careful examination of the facts produced in evi-
dence upon the stand. The plaintiff believed himself to be an in-
jured man. Once, his star of hope beamed brightiy—he was a
boy of uncommon promise—and the hearts of his parents were
filled with fond anticipations of future success. He passed honor-
ably through his collegial course, aud the study of bhis profession,
and was greeted with a hearty welcome by Reverend men. He
became a preacher of the Gospel, and was settled over a religious
society. I'hat society flourished under his pastoral care, and he
had reason to hope that, at the final day there would be ‘ many
souls as the seals of his ministry.’ |

But a change came over the course of events. A greatand ac-
rimonious excitement commenced in the community, Mr. Thatch-
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er plunged at once into the sweeping current ; whether he was
right or wrong, 1s not for us to inquire. At that momeunt, certain
scurrilous reports, respecting his moral character, started into be- -
ing. He was dragged from the sacred altar, and lashed to the
wheel of political reform. These scandals became rife in the
community. But aftera time the excitement subsided, and the
evil reports were forgotten. Mr. Thatcher outlived reproach.—
W ithin a short time, a new combination has been formed against
him, and injurious reports are again in circulation. The scandal
came from high sources—from responsible men. For the sake of
his chiirch and his family, Mr. Thatcher felt called upon to defend
his reputation. It was in vain for the church to investigate the
matter, The slanders had fastened upon the public mind. The
brothers of the profession would not exchange with him. He
must make an effort to save himself and his little flock. He meets
the unjustifiable reproach in a court of law. This, said Mr. Mer-
rick, is no time for excitement—I1 will school my feelings to the
task before ine. *
The Writ, in this case, contains three counts—the first aflirms
that Gen. Pond charged the plaintiff with having criminal inter-
course with Adaline Hawes, Mrs., Simmons, and Mrs. Jerusha
M. Pond ; the second, that he had committed adultery with Ada-
line Hawes ; and the last, that he charged hum generally with the
crime of Adultery. | :
The defendant, said Mr. Merrick, comes elaborately prepared
to disprove that he ever uttered the words stated ; then, if that
fails, he will say that it was a story told by another ; and standing
upon this narrow ground, for narrow ground it is, he then avers,
that the words spoken were spoken because they were true. 1f he
pioves these points, or either of them, he contends that he 1s enti-
tled to a verdict. The Court has ruled, that if a person uttering
slanderous words, should speak them upon a justifiable ocecasion,
and name a responsible author at the time, it would not be ac~
tionable. I contend, said Mr. Merrick, that a person uttering a
slander, mnst not only give the substance—the amount—Dbut the
precise words of the report, as he heard it. Has Gen. Preston
Pond donethis 7 Is not Myrs. Jerusha M. Pond’s story much more
than the general charge of Adultery ? Does it not greatly vary
from the story as testified by Miller and Blake ? There is no pre-
tence for saying the defendant gave the words of his imformer.
. Dea. Pond forced the cenfession of the story, upon which these
slanders were founded, from his wile. He extorted it from her,
and permit me to say, it is in the highest degree improbable. Mrs,
Pond was ])’ll’lg upon her l]l.l!iband’g pi“qw, a woman in dishonor—
a s_uspec.ted woman-—-shg myst account for her tears, and her mys-
tertous conduct ; her Jyushand wrenched this story from her by his
marital aulhant_!r.‘ ls it to be believed that Mrs. Pond—a woman
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of no ordinary capacity of mind—would hold the infamous story
in her pessession six long years? that Adaline would tell her what
had happened, and she express no indignation ? They speak of
Mr. Thatcher’s repentance. The work was performed marvellous-
ly quick : Mrs. Thatcher remained all night at the house of Dea.
Pond ; that night, it is said, Mr. Thatcher was in bed with Ada-
line. The next day Mrs. Pond carrics Mrs. Thatcher home in a
carriage, and Adaline then informs her what had happened—but
~she adds, he has repented. And this, we are told, satisfied the vir-
tuous mind of Jerusha Pond. Is this to be believed ? Is it to be
beheved that Adaline Hawes—a virgin—would thus confess the
story of her guilt ? that she would, unasked, confess to Mrs. Pond
that she had again prostituted herself—and add, ¢ It was with your
dear friend, your beloved pastor ?” Gentlemen, you must go far
down into the depths of guilt, before you will find a female wil-
ling to confess this degradation. They have carried the living
proofs of illicit intercourse within the womb, and refused, even to
the last moment that life lingered upon their lips, to make the con-
fesston. Is Mrs. Pond’s story probable ? Adaline rides out
alone with Mr. Thatcher—Jerusha raises no warning voice. She
returns and informs her that the disgraceful thing has happened
again. Mr. Thatcher repents, and Jerusha concludes to forget it.
The same thing happens again. Adaline rushes, uncalled for, and
without cause, and declares, he has done 1t again—the deed of dal-
liance has been committed once more! Still Jerusha loves the
man who is ruining himself and his family, and debauching her
friend. Improbable and idle story! To strengthen it, we are
told that Mr. Thatcher was so grieved, so penitent, that he propos-
‘ed to make himself of a different sex from either—to cut off the
offending member. Mrs. Pond ought to have been satisfied with
nothing short of this. I respect her, said Mr. Merrick—all who
have seen her upon that stand must respect and pity her,—but I
consider her story too improbable, to entitle it to a moment’s atten-
tion.

You will recollect, gentlemen that Gen Pond called Capt Blake
to his shop door; Blake was a member of Mr. Thatcher’s chuch,
and he called him to taunt him with his pastor’s infidelity. Instead
of this course, he should have made his charges to the church.
He should not go upon his shop door, and hail the passers-by,
and make suspicious givings out. Mr. Pond, as defendant in this
case, feils 1n all things. He must not only tell the substance, but
he must give the precise words, he must tell the whole story as it
was. . He did not do this to Blake. The Court, I am confident,
will sustain me in this position. | '

The next specification in the Writ, gentlemen, is the general
charge of adultery. This rests mainly upon the plaintiff ’s suppos-
ed confession. He has made no such confession. He is charged
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with committing the crime of adultery. The testimony of Jerusha
M. Pond must be thrown aside. The burden of proof is upon the
- defendant. He must make out the charge to the satisfaction of
reasonable men. First, on this point, we have the testimony of
Mrs Harding. About six or eight years ago, there was a display
of the northern lights, and Mr Thatcher’s family went out to wit-
ness the phenomenon. The lights faded away—the hour for re-
tiring arrived. ‘The family sought their respective chambers.—
Adaline, as was her custom, sat up after the rest had retired. Mr
Thatcher went into his study. Miss Polly Merrifield, deeper ad-
vanced in the vale of years, than Miss Hawes, with the true spirit
of curiosity predominant at her time of life, took off her shoes for
the purpose of listening, and at the dead of night, when every
sound was hushed, with all her excited curiosity, could not hear a
word! The persons supposed to be whispering in the entry, then
went into the study, and remained there an hour, and, you are
therefore asked to believe that the crime of adultery has been
committed by the plaintiff. The fact wae, gentlemen, Miss Mer-
rifield’s jealousy was excited—she was mistaken: ‘‘jealousy doth
make the meat it feeds on.””

Next we have the evidence of Dea. Smith Pond. Gentlemen,
will you infer from his testimony that Mr Thatcher has committed
the crime of adultery? Dea..Pond and Mr Thatcher are equally
interested in the result of this trial—Mr Thatcher 1s interested for
his office, and the honor of his profession; and Dea. Pond and his
wife for their reputation, and their own salety, should this suit ter-
minate in favor of the plaintiff. Gentiemen, I did not expect to
meet Dea. Smith Pond, here. 1 am not prepared to meet him.—
I had conversed freely with my client, but he had not informed me
that we should meet this witness here. IHis appearance upon the
stand was wholly unexpected. 1 am now authorized by my client
to say, that the statement of Dea. Pond, although correct in some
particulars, in the main 1s rank distortion. Is it prebable, gentle-
men, that when Mr Thatcher was on the eve of this prosecution—
when he was bearding the lion in “his den—that he would make a
full and free confession? After .the mutual explanation between
Dea. Pond and myv client, at the conversation in his study, Mr
Thatcher called on Dea. Pond, to seek al! the reparation he desir-
ed ati his hands—a card, for publication. This was refused. He
had no other.resort, to save his injured fame, but a prosecution.—
When Dea. Pond called on Mr Thatcher, he said, ‘* Repent, and
I'll forgive you.” ¢ Will your” said Mr FThatcher. What was
his reply? *‘¥Yes—there’s my hand.”” The recent evil reports
were then 1n circulation. When Mr Thatcher called upon Dea.
Pond, and asked for a card, on the strength of his double forgive-
ness, he refused. ¢ 1’ll give my hand to no card; L'l not let my-
name go before the public.”
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My client, gentlemen, declares that the stalement of Deacon
Pond is not a fair statement. But let us examine it. Thatcher
said, I will hear your charges, but I will not hold myself responsi-
ble to admit or deny fo you. When Deacon Pond gets through
M. Thatcher denies all—he says, Deacon Pond, you can prove
nothing; your wife has made charges which she cannot sustain;
you have no tangible evidence of these things. Deacon Pond
says, 1 have tangible evidence on another point—with regard to
my wife, Mr Thatcher inquires, what do you propose to do with
that? He denied every thing relating to Adaline  When charged
with improprieties of conduct with regard to Mrs., Pond, he in-
quired, what do you propose to withthat? 1 have a wife, said he,
as well as you—I1 am the father of children—my family is as dear
to me as yours. You seek to charge me with impropries of con-
duct. I will not deny it. I will not say that 1 am better than
other men—that I do not sometimes look with eyes that 1 should
not, upon Adaline Hawes and your wife. 1 feel that I do not al-
ways control my acesires as my clerlcal office demands. 1 feel
this, and as I would ask any man’s pardon I-ask your pardon and
forgiveness---and I do feel penitent. With regard to the main
charges, I admit nothing, I deny nothing. 1 will hold myself to
answer at another tribunal. As to any improprieties of conduct
betweeen your wife and myself, I ask your forgiveness—let us
- shake hands upon the spot.

By the testimony of a weman, against whom not a breath of
slander has been breathed, until this affair was brought before the
public, we have proved that the crune of aduitery has never been
committed. Before you can acquit the defendant, you must say
that Adaline Hawes—a virtuous upright woman to thisday—is a
perjured witness—you must throw her testtmony out of the case.

With respect to the verdict, gentlemen, if you do not acquit
the defendant, you will bring in either nominal or substantial dam-
ages, ltis said that the pldmtlff' stands in a bad light—that his
character is bad—that what a man hath not cannot be taken from
him—and that he is not, therefore, entitled to substantial damages.
Gentlemen if Mr. Thatcher stood fair, there would be no need of
bringing this action. Ile might outlwe slander if he stood as fair
as other men. He was compelled to bring this action as a means
of safety. ~He has much character lelt. He has been villified

and abused. In times of great political excitement, hard things
will be said of public men. Deep seated enmity will be engen-
dered. . Public men ought to be protected. Although the na-
jority of the public may be against a man, it i3 no pmof of his

guilt. T e may still be innocent. People livmn‘ nearest to Mr.
Thatcher, believed him innocent, After having Jived down slan-

der, and preached through evil and good report, will you say
t.hﬂt aman has no f.harac*er bhecanse minrions reports are In Cir-
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culation about him? Dr. Park, and his brethren in the ministry
will not exchange with the plaintiff because he has thrown off their
clerical discipline. Do they suspect his piety? They cling to
him to the last. . Mr. Thatcher is compelled to come here, to pre-
serve his cﬁaracter and his church.

Unless he defends himself, his church will be charged with hav-
g an adulterous pastor, and being a common brothel in which
the members convene for the purposes of adultery. 1 he recent
reports do not prove that Mr. Thatcher i1s a cnanged man ; they
only prove that he bas lately been more assailed and villified. Has
he not been chosen by the people of Wrentham, as the guardian
of their children? He has been a school committce man, two
years. DBring in a verdict for thre defendant, and can Mr., Thatch-
er be made a school committee man again ?  Philo Sanford served
with him. Would you, Mr. Foreman, serve in such a capacity,
with a notorious adulterer ?  If Mr. Thatcher has submitted to slan-
der too long, and his character has sulfered in this way, graduate
your verdict accordingly.  We know that some would rejoice at’
any evil that should befal the plaintiff—at any thing adverse to Mr.

Thatcher. I trust they will not be permitted to tuumpa over the
ruin of an innocent man.

It is not said, but it is hinted in evidence that if---and if —the law

would permit, the counsel for the defendant would show as much
against Mr, Thatcher concerning Livonia Hall, as of others.—

Gentlemen they have loaded the case with vile matter that they
had no uﬂ*hl‘ introduce. It comes in the specification of the
grounds of defence, in the shape of direct LVIJ?I]CP of insinua-
tions, of letters and depositions, Gentlemen, we trust you will
save an 1injured man from the effect of this vile conspiracy against
him—that you will bring in a verdict in his favor, and send a thrill
of joy to the heart of his suffering wife and innocent children. -

JUDGE CuMMINS charged that this was an action of Slander, brought
hy the plaintiff, a settled minister, against Gen. Pond, for having
charzed bim with the crime of Adultery. The whole case: resolves
itsell into this. - The writ, it is true, contains three counts, but the
plaintifi grecunds his action upon the general charge of adultery.,

'L'here appears to be no doubt that the plaintiff was charged with
this erime by the defendant. 'There is no need of going inte the evi-

dence upon this point; the defendant unquestionably put forth this

charge. If this was of the nature of privileged communications, In

times of election, and the reports were true, then tie defendant would
be _IU':t;ut:lJ

1'he defendant sets f'ortll, that he uniformiy declared, when utter-
ing the slanderous words charged, that they were told him by Jeru~
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sha Pond—and that they were true in fact, and that Jerusha Pond is
a credible witness.

The burden of proof lies upon the defendant. He must satisfy the

jury that he had some good ground for speaking this report; that he
disclosed the name of a credible witness, at the time. Unless he has
proved this he cannot be entitled to a verdict. 'Ihis, it i3 true, is nar-
row ground. He must have said, at the time he spoke the words,
that they were told hun by Jerusha Pond. Look at the evidence.—
There certainly is a variance in the words spoken by the defendant,
from the words given by Jerusha Pond- 'T'he Court would have rul-
ed this limitation, had it been called upon in the first part of the ex-
amination.. The defendant goes upon the ground that he was privi-
leged to speak the words alleged, because they were true, and he
could prove them by another. 'The Court cited a case of slander,
where an unportant witness died before the action was bhrought to
trial—another person was able to give the substance of the slanderous
matter—not the precise words—Dbut it would not do. 'T'he Court did
not mean by this that every word must be given—every the and and—
but the actionable matlier. Did Gen. Pond report the precise mattér?
- He may have put forth the charge of adultery generally—but the
Court is inclined to think theé statement made by Lim, was not. the
same as that which Jerusha Pond revealed. It may be the same_in
substance, Lut was it in the precise form? If you think the defendant
failed here, he i1s not entitled to a verdict upon this ground.
- T'he next point of defence is, that the charge was true in fact, 'The
charge put forth, was, that the plaintiff had committed adultery with
~Adaline Hawes. He must show that this was true. The burden of
proofis upon him. If you are satisfied that the plaintiff did commit
the crime of adultery with Adaline Hawes, as charged, it covers the
whole—it is sufficient, 'I'he case rests upon Dea. Smith Pond and
Mrs. Harding. DNrs. Pond’s testimony does not apply to this point of
the defence. Upon Smith Pond’s and Mrs. Harding’s evidence you
must decide. It is said that Smith Pond is interested i the question
at issue, as there is another ease of the same nature, in which he will
be a party, to be called up. You may give the suggestion all the con-
sideration it may seem to deserve. You are to take all that is ad-
mitted as testimmony, and make up your verdict accordingly.

If you think Gen. Pond fails on all the grounds of defence, it will
then be a question of damages. Of these, you must be the judge,—
You must take into consideration the character and station of both
parties, and judge how much yow will give,
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The investigation of this case occupied the attention of the Court
two days. The Jury returned a verdict for the Plamniiff, in the sum
of $5, damages, and $1,25 costs. Upon this verdict the parties pay
their own expenses, fees of counsel, witnesses, &ec.

%

NOTE BY THE REPORTERN

In justice to the able counsel employed by the opposite parties, in
this case, we must remark that the brief sketches of the arguments
siven in the preceding pages, were prepared from imperfect notes, by
the Reporter, and published without being revised by the counsel
themselves. Both of them very kindly consented to prepare a sketch
of their remarks for the Report, but in consequence of a misunder-
stunding in one case, and the pressure of professional business n the
other, we have not vet received any thing from either. We do not
pretend to give a report of the arguments—but merely a notice of
the most striking points. We trust the counsel will pardon us for
speaking of their remarks, at any length, under these circumstances.
But a strong desire manifested by the public, to know the truth, and
the whole truth, in this case, has induced us to attempt a work, which
we are aware, has been imperfectly performed. |

The evidence itself we can trust. It was carefully reported, and
carefully written out; and has been revised throughout by a member
of the bar. The writ, specifications, letters, &c., were copied from
the records of the Court, .
Jan. 8. 1838,



